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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm the Chair of

          3  Consumer Affairs Committee.  Just some housekeeping,

          4  I apologize for anybody that's come thinking that we

          5  were having a follow-up hearing on vendors.  That

          6  hearing is postponed until our next meeting, which

          7  is, I believe, October 9th, and I'll get you the

          8  time in a just a few minutes, we're checking.  It's

          9  October 9th at ten o'clock.  So, if the

         10  Administration would make a note, they could

         11  certainly have more than their two weeks notice that

         12  they need.  We will formally invite the police, so

         13  they have more than two weeks' notice.

         14                 At that hearing, I expect that we

         15  will take some testimony, limited testimony, from

         16  vendors and hear from the Administration in terms of

         17  ideas that they have and also from the police

         18  department on the concerns and the frustrations that

         19  they feel that they have with that issue.  We'll

         20  also be looking at Council Member Liu's bill on

         21  cybercafes, I believe, in and around schools.  So,

         22  we're trying to get to all the various issues that

         23  are on our calendar.

         24                 Let me begin by recognizing my

         25  colleagues, John Liu from Queens, Joseph Addabbo
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          2  from Queens and Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, and

          3  Leroy Comrie and from -- where you from? From

          4  Queens, and Michael Nelson from Brooklyn.  I spent

          5  the morning with at least two of them on the end

          6  there, so it's a good afternoon to you.

          7                 This afternoon, the Committee will

          8  consider legislative package that will deal with the

          9  subject of payday loans.  Some of you may be aware

         10  that payday lenders have grown in number, and are

         11  doing a brisk business in New York City.  They do

         12  not, however, operate without some controversy.  The

         13  Committee has, in recent months, voted on

         14  legislation to prevent predatory lending.  We have

         15  also passed a bill that created more protection for

         16  people who take refund anticipation loans when they

         17  file their income tax returns.  In both these areas,

         18  one of the Council's most important goals in

         19  drafting the legislation was to bring more

         20  information through greater disclosure to both the

         21  general public and to people who, as loan

         22  applicants, might be directly affected.

         23                 Today, we consider the matter of

         24  payday loans, which are small, unsecured consumer

         25  loans that require repayment within a relatively
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          2  short time period, usually, the borrower's next

          3  payday.  When calculated as an annual percentage

          4  rate, these loans typically carry three digits, and

          5  sometimes four digit interest rates, and despite New

          6  York City's 25 percent usury  ceiling on small

          7  loans, payday lenders continue to thrive.  For

          8  borrowers, this often means a burdensome repayment

          9  obligation, and there are also escalating finance

         10  charges if loans are not repaid within a full, are

         11  not repaid in full within the time prescribed.  In

         12  response to complaints from consumer advocacy groups

         13  and borrowers, several of my colleagues have

         14  introduced a legislative package aimed at addressing

         15  these concerns.

         16                 Intro. 461 would require that payday

         17  lenders provide a disclosure notice to each would be

         18  borrower, so that he or she has a clear

         19  understanding of the loan terms.  It would also

         20  require payday lenders to provide the Council and

         21  the Department of Consumer Affairs with demographic

         22  information on the borrowers.

         23                 Intro. 462 would require institutions

         24  that provide payday loan or grant services, and

         25  which conduct business with the City or its

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  agencies, to meet specific disclosure requirements

          3  in their advertisements, so that consumers

          4  understand the true cost of payday loans.  There are

          5  also three resolutions dealing with payday loans,

          6  which we will be considering.

          7                 To that end, we invited payday

          8  lenders, consumer advocates and a number of

          9  interested parties.  If you are here to testify on

         10  that, it would be good if you would sign one of our

         11  witness sheets.  Has the Administration now decided

         12  to speak on the subject?  I see, okay.  Just give me

         13  just a second.  One of the sponsors of the

         14  resolutions is Council Member Sears, and she is

         15  unable to join us, but she has given us a statement,

         16  which I think I have shared or should be shared with

         17  all of our colleagues.  You received this?  Okay,

         18  thank you.  Is there any other of the sponsors who

         19  have an opening statement that they wanted to make?

         20  Council Member Nelson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay, thank

         22  you.  Thank you Mr. Chair.  I'd like to thank you

         23  Phil Reed, Chair of this Committee, for holding this

         24  hearing today on payday loans.  I, along with my

         25  colleagues, Speaker Miller, Leroy Comrie, Council
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          2  Member Sears, have introduced a package of bills

          3  that will serve as a break to the proliferation of

          4  payday lending horror stories that we're hearing

          5  more and more each day occurring in New York City

          6  and the State.

          7                 Payday lending is, for many families

          8  of low and limited incomes, become the source of

          9  loans that they would not have been able to obtain

         10  otherwise through normal banking channels.  Payday

         11  lenders take advantage of these consumers, who are

         12  often in desperate financial straights.  The most

         13  heartbreaking aspects of payday loan scams is that

         14  they disproportionately affect low income workers

         15  who are engaged in day- to- day struggles to make

         16  ends meet.  These people can least afford to pay

         17  back the principal on the loans, thus, plus the

         18  exorbitant interest rates that are added on to them,

         19  and they become trapped by some unscrupulous lenders

         20  in a cycle.  They essentially have no alternative,

         21  but to take on new loans, which are called

         22  rollovers, to cover existing loans, which it sort of

         23  amounts to a form of legalized larceny, and can

         24  permanently ruin a person's credit worthiness, or at

         25  least for seven years.
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          2                 We have to alert the Federal

          3  Government to the severity and persuasiveness of

          4  this problem, pervasiveness rather, and demand

          5  protection for consumers.  The Federal Government

          6  must be aware that this is reverse redlining.  We're

          7  asking the Congress to close this Federal loophole

          8  that allows out- of- state banks to export their

          9  high interest rates in our State and City.

         10                 Here in the City, these bills will

         11  force companies that disperse payday loans to

         12  publicly disclose the terms of their agreements on

         13  their advertisements, so as to allow consumers to

         14  make educated decisions about their finances.  The

         15  bills would also create a database for tracking

         16  payday loan applications, so as to determine what

         17  neighborhoods in the City are being targeted.  This

         18  information would be given to the Department of

         19  Consumer Affairs and to New York City Council.  The

         20  hearing today will begin the process of addressing

         21  the assault on families with the least, that are

         22  forced to pay the most.  I thank you Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         24  Council Member Comrie.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Thank you Mr.
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          2  Chair.  I want to thank Chairman Reed and Speaker

          3  Miller and all of the staff that have been involved

          4  in helping to put this package of two Intros. And

          5  three Resolutions together, to deal with the

          6  discourage of the payday loan industry.

          7  Essentially, we're here today to try to raise

          8  awareness, and hopefully with our Intros. To try and

          9  highlight on some exploitive practices that are

         10  allowing people to be trapped into a vicious cycle

         11  of payday loans.

         12                 Over the past several months, there

         13  have been an increased presence of these commercials

         14  advertising these companies on the radio, the

         15  advertisements have been more visible on the subways

         16  and buses in my district and around the City.  We

         17  knew that this issue had to be addressed because we

         18  are finding more people that are not aware of the

         19  danger of these payday loans, and they're very

         20  enticing.  It sounds like its almost a deal too good

         21  to be true, and it is a deal that is not good and

         22  it's definitely not true.

         23                 We've learned that for many New

         24  Yorkers, as you know, these are difficult times.

         25  Many are living paycheck to paycheck and this idea
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          2  may appear to be the answer to their problems.

          3  However, we've learned that these practices take bad

          4  situations and make them worse.  Our goal here is to

          5  educate and inform as many potential victims who

          6  fall to these unscrupulous practices.  The holiday

          7  season is quickly approaching and this is the

          8  perfect opportunity, during the holiday season, for

          9  companies to attract borrowers that are in stress,

         10  that are looking to try to help their families or

         11  give that little extra, and fall into this vicious

         12  cycle.  We need to put an end to these practices.

         13                 I presently fund some groups in my

         14  district that are helping people to prevent

         15  foreclosures, to help them prevent from falling into

         16  financial disarray, but these payday loans are

         17  showing themselves as to be an enticing opportunity

         18  that's difficult for people to say no to.  I hope

         19  that with these hearings today, we can start the

         20  passage of these Resolutions.  I hope that we do get

         21  the support of the State and Federal Government to

         22  step up and close these necessary loopholes to

         23  protect the least of us.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you Council

         25  Member.  I know that we have been joined by the
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          2  Administration.  They're going to make some informal

          3  remarks.  So, I'd like to call Deputy Commissioner

          4  Pauline Toole, and I'm very happy that I know your

          5  name because  -- Pauline -- this how you're teaching

          6  your children?

          7                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I can only say

          8  that the Director of Legislative Affairs filled that

          9  out, but I want to thank you for the promotion.  I'm

         10  Assistant Commissioner Toole, but I'm hoping --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Assistant

         12  Commissioner --

         13                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  -- That your

         14  words, your lips to God's ears, maybe.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  With your good

         16  work, I'm sure.

         17                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank you.

         18  Commissioner Dykstra, regrettably, couldn't be here.

         19    This is an issue of great concern to her and she

         20  looks forward to working with you all on this in the

         21  next several months.  But, we, as you know, I think,

         22  did not know that this topic was going to be on the

         23  agenda.  So, we didn't have a lot of time to prepare

         24  in depth research, and as an agency, the City

         25  Administration, as yet, has not fully reviewed the
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          2  legislation, and has not been able to formulate a

          3  position on it.

          4                 But having said that, the Department

          5  recently did initiate a review of payday lending.

          6  We've become aware that the practice is spreading in

          7  New York.  You can't go online without getting a

          8  notice about some great loan you could get for

          9  whatever your purpose was, but at an outrageous

         10  interest rate.  We found this type of lending

         11  originated in small independent check cashing

         12  outlets and pawn shops in the early 1990's and the

         13  number of payday lenders has since grown from about

         14  500 outlets nation wide, to over 14,000 in 2002, and

         15  we're going to continue researching this to figure

         16  out what the scope of the problem is in the City.

         17                 We think the phenomenal growth is, of

         18  course, most likely the result of the high return

         19  lenders expect from the loans.  The 470 percent

         20  annual rate for such loans repaid in full within 14

         21  days shows how lucrative such lending can be.  It's

         22  no wonder the FDIC reports that companies making

         23  payday loans have expanded from small check cashing

         24  outlets to large regional or multi- service

         25  providers, monoline payday loan entities and insured
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          2  depository institutions that are usually involved

          3  through third- parties.  So, it cuts across every

          4  kind of lending institution, and the Council is

          5  correctly concerned about the issue.

          6                 Since payday loans target the most

          7  needy and vulnerable consumers, requiring payday

          8  lenders to make the disclosures proposed by these

          9  bills are laudable objectives.  How the objectives

         10  can effectively be achieved and how such lending

         11  practices can be curtailed to protect those who are

         12  burdened by the cost is, however, a complicated

         13  issue involving the interplay of local, State and

         14  Federal laws.  The Department now is looking at

         15  whether it's own authority under existing law,

         16  specifically Section 20- 701 of the Consumer

         17  Protection Law, would enable us to take actions

         18  against lenders engaging in deceptive advertising

         19  and selling practices that ensnare on weary.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Ms. Toole, I'm

         21  sorry, could you tell us what, you just referenced

         22  some number, code --

         23                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  -- It's Section

         24  20 701 of the CP -- Consumer Protection Law of the

         25  City Code, and basically it's the section that deals
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          2  with deceptive advertising, and what we're trying to

          3  do right now is look at whether or not the existing

          4  law would permit the Department to pursue offers of

          5  payday loans, if their advertising is deceptive.

          6  So, we have to figure how we can do that, and if we

          7  can do that, using the existing law.  The

          8  challenging task is to figure out if we can do that

          9  to capture out- of- state sales and internet sales.

         10                 The search of payday lenders on the

         11  internet turned up 100 that offered such loans, sort

         12  of immediately.  The most difficult issues are

         13  raised by the deregulation of interest rates by the

         14  New York State Legislature and court interpretations

         15  of the National Banking Act. The body of rulings

         16  holds that Federal law preempts state and local laws

         17  with respect to the interest rates that out- of-

         18  state federally- chartered banks can charge, if

         19  those rates are authorized by their home state.  The

         20  deregulation of interest rates in the federal

         21  preemption of interest rates that banks can charge

         22  may carve out a huge loophole in New York's criminal

         23  usury law, which prohibits interest of more than 25

         24  percent per year.  We are aware of these issues,

         25  that they really potentially affect large numbers of
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          2  consumers.  We'd like to figure out how to protect

          3  consumers from predatory payday lenders, but have

          4  not yet had the opportunity to come up with the

          5  proposal or make a better, stronger comment about --

          6  on your proposals.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          8  much.  Are there questions?  Council Member Liu.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         10  Chairman.  I actually have just a brief comment, not

         11  so much a question.  I am here to support these

         12  bills and Resos. Because I think this is a problem

         13  that, like other forms of predatory lending, has

         14  become more and more prevalent in the City of the

         15  New York, certainly in the community that I

         16  represent.  So, I'd like to, I'm not sure, it must

         17  have been an oversight, but I'd like to request that

         18  my name be added as a sponsor to both Intro. 461 and

         19  462 and Resolutions 871, 876 and 880, and I'm in

         20  full support of these bills.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         22  Council Member Addabbo.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         24  very much Mr. Chair, and I want to join Council

         25  Member Liu in adding my name to the sponsor to

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Intro. 461, 462 and Reso. 871.  But, one question I

          3  do have is, in your opinion, the amount of

          4  disclosure that currently exists, is it there, is it

          5  not there?

          6                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I think it would

          7  depend on each offering.  You would have to look at

          8  it separately. Certainly, maybe it speaks more about

          9  my financial circumstances, but certainly the ones

         10  that I've received on the internet don't meet the

         11  disclosure requirements under the City's law of

         12  being, you know, fair advertising.  But the question

         13  is whether or not our law can apply there and how we

         14  can make that work.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         16  Koppell.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I am pleased

         18  that the Department is looking into this, and I

         19  recognize that there are some difficult federalism

         20  questions.  But, when do you think you might have

         21  recommendations for the Council as to what you would

         22  support, what the Mayor would support?

         23                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I can't give you

         24  an exact date, but I think the process -- I can tell

         25  you what the process is.  We have been studying this
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          2  a little bit in the Department, and we would take

          3  our research and our recommendations to a meeting of

          4  all of the affected City agencies, and then the City

          5  agencies talk about the pluses and minuses of the

          6  legislation and different approaches, and from

          7  there, the Administration formulates an

          8  Administration position.  So, I would imagine that

          9  that would happen very speedily, particularly, since

         10  you know, you've had this hearing now and it

         11  certainly begins the process.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I would say

         13   -- well, first of all, I think that it would be

         14  useful and helpful if, in this instance, we didn't

         15  get into a dispute with the Administration, as was

         16  the case with the predatory lending bill.

         17                 I think this is a despicable

         18  practice, despicable, hard to believe that in this

         19  day and age people are paying interest rates of

         20  hundreds of percents, even thousand percent.  I

         21  mean, it's staggers the imagination to take

         22  advantage of vulnerable people this way, and I

         23  congratulate the Committee, of course, and strongly

         24  support, I'm a co- sponsor of these bills, anything

         25  we can do, that's the problem.  If we could just
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          2  outlaw them, I'd be voting for it in ten seconds,

          3  but it's not so simple because of the legal

          4  constraints.  But, I would urge everyone, I have

          5  great respect for the corporation counsel and

          6  getting his wisdom on how we can get at this, but

          7  we've got to get at it, because people are being

          8  really taken advantage of to an unimaginable degree.

          9                 If you tell a person, can a bank

         10  charge 500 percent interest, I don't believe that

         11  anybody would say yes. They would say, oh no, that

         12  couldn't be legal.  We have a criminal usury rate in

         13  this State of 25 percent, and they're violating that

         14  10 times over.  So, your help to the Council and our

         15  working together, I think, is urgent and we need it.

         16                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  And we would

         17  like to work with you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member,

         19  you raised a good point.  My understanding is that

         20  while we have a 25 percent usury rate in New York

         21  State, other states don't, and so the money that

         22  these agents, because I think that's really all they

         23  are, are using is from out- of- state, so they

         24  supply the capital, so that's the way around the

         25  problem.  Allegedly.  Council Member Comrie.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Yes, I just

          3  want to -- I'm sure that the Commissioner, and I

          4  know that she has a lot of things to do.  But

          5  holiday season is coming and I would hope that we

          6  could get this package taken care of before then,

          7  and also, even before that, if we could just do some

          8  consumer awareness type things from, you know, I'd

          9  be more than happy to do that from the Council's

         10  side, if we could do that from the Consumer Affairs'

         11  side, or some joint or something from the Mayor you

         12  know, saying that please find some other way to get

         13  needed capital.  But to do these payday loans are

         14  horrible, it's a cycle that's never- ending and it

         15  only ends in severe pain, and most times, either

         16  bankruptcy or foreclosure, for most of the people

         17  that get trapped in it.  So, we need to, if we can't

         18  get the legislation passed, and I don't get the

         19  sense from you that you have any objections to the

         20  idea, just the technicalities.  I know that

         21  sometimes the devil is in the details though, and we

         22  want to get the details worked out, really

         23  comprehensively, but we need to do some consumer

         24  awareness on this as soon as possible, because

         25  holiday season is coming.  This does affect people
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          2  that are in desperate need already because they're

          3  living paycheck to paycheck as it is.  Again, I want

          4  to thank the Chair and all of the people that have

          5  been involved in designing this bill.

          6                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank you.  Last

          7  year, when the debate about the predatory lending

          8  was going on in the Council and at the State level,

          9  we did do some work on community education, and we

         10  targeted a couple of districts, one of them, as it

         11  happens, was yours, and developed materials.  We

         12  could certainly do that in the short term.  So,

         13  simple handouts that basically says, if it sounds

         14  too good to be true, it is.  Don't be misled, that

         15  type of thing.  So, we could certainly do that, and

         16  let this move forward too.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         18  much for your testimony.  I would just add that the

         19  old adage about fighting fire with fire, and I'm not

         20  entirely sure how you place ads on the internet, but

         21  they seem to be ubiquitous about everything. Maybe

         22  the City wants to take a look at putting up notices

         23  to people about what's at stake, because that's

         24  where so many people are seeing this.  So, let's

         25  take a look at that.  Public service announcements
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          2  at two, three o'clock in the morning have little

          3  impact, but if that's where people are getting the

          4  information from, then let's give them the truth.

          5                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  That's a good

          6  idea.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          8                 COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank you,

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Appreciate it.  We

         10  are also been joined by a Mr. Kramer from the New

         11  York State Banking Department.  Please come, and the

         12  Sergeant of Arms will take that, and then we're

         13  going to hear from Advocates Sabrica Barnett and

         14  Delrio, Deyra, how am I going to say that name?

         15  What is it? Lovely name, she's going to join us, and

         16  Brigitte Amiri, Brigitte's here? Okay, all three of

         17  you all ready?  Council Member Addabbo has had to

         18  step out to go to another meeting.  I just wanted

         19  everybody to know he's been here since, in that very

         20  chair, since ten o'clock this morning.  I haven't

         21  seen him have any nourishment so, I'm giving you a

         22  word of advice, you have to eat something, as your

         23  mother would say.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  All right.  Mr.

          3  Kramer, please.

          4                 MR. KRAMER:  I guess this is on now.

          5  Thank you Mr. Chairman, Members of the City Council.

          6    Thank you for inviting the New York State Banking

          7  Department to testify at the Committee on Consumer

          8  Affairs Hearing on payday loans.  I am Edward

          9  Kramer, and I am Deputy Superintendent of Banks of

         10  the Consumer Services Division at the New York State

         11  Banking Department.  In this role, I oversee

         12  compliance with numerous consumer protection laws,

         13  as well as the Community Reinvestment Act and Fair

         14  Lending Statutes.  As such, I am fully familiar with

         15  the issues surrounding payday lending.  We believe

         16  that this topic is both timely and important.

         17                 The new Superintendent of Banks has

         18  stated that consumer protection and working with

         19  consumer groups are high priorities for her.  Payday

         20  lending is not a new issue or concern to the New

         21  York State Banking Department.  Rather, the

         22  Department issued an All Institutions Letter on June

         23  29, 1999, and again on June 13, 2000.  In addition,

         24  we issued a joint press release with the New York

         25  State Consumer Protection Board on October 30th of

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  2000.  In each of these instances, the Banking

          3  Department sought, as both a preventive measure and

          4  as an effort to illicit additional information from

          5  consumers to clarify the Banking Department's view

          6  of certain practices pertaining to payday lending.

          7                 Payday loan companies typically grant

          8  advances to individuals against their next paycheck.

          9    In return for the advance, the company typically

         10  charges a fee.  For example, for a fee of $35.00, a

         11  payday loan company might agree to make the borrower

         12  a two week advance of $120.00.  In order to obtain

         13  the loan, the borrower would either agree to pay

         14  $35.00 and write a post- dated check to the company

         15  for $120.00, or alternately, to write the company a

         16  post- dated check for $155.00.  In either instance,

         17  the lender agrees to hold the post- dated check

         18  until the borrower's next payday.  If funds are

         19  still insufficient to cover the check, once the

         20  borrower's paycheck is deposited, the payday loan

         21  company may agree to renew the loan for another

         22  period.  Thereby, resulting in additional fees for

         23  the borrower. These fees are in reality outrageously

         24  high interest rates that are charged to borrowers

         25  who are in financially precarious positions.
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          2                 As this example illustrates, payday

          3  lenders typically charge high fees for their

          4  services.  The New York State Penal Code Section

          5  190.40 limits interest to 25 percent per annum.  In

          6  most instances, if the interest charge is greater

          7  than 25 percent per annum, the loan violates the

          8  Penal Code and is usurious.  As part of Governor

          9  Pataki's mandate to the Banking Department to end

         10  abusive lending in New York, it is the Banking

         11  Department's position that such fees and charges to

         12  the borrower to obtain the loan, irrespective of how

         13  they are identified, are interest and are subject to

         14  this 25 percent limitation.

         15                 Currently, no entities licensed or

         16  chartered by the Banking Department engage in this

         17  particular type of business in New York.  We believe

         18  that this is the result of the Department's public

         19  stand against the high fees and charges that are

         20  typical of a payday loan.

         21                 Moreover, we have prevented three

         22  out- of- state companies that were not affiliated

         23  with any national or state chartered bank and were

         24  not licensed in this State as licensed lenders, from

         25  operating in this State.  Similarly, we believe that
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          2  our public opposition to this type of loan was

          3  instrumental in keeping both Ace Cash Express and

          4  Dollar from opening branches in New York.

          5  Similarly, in New York, check cashers are licensed

          6  by the Banking Department, they are prevented by

          7  regulation from cashing post- dated checks.  Without

          8  such authority, they cannot engage in payday

          9  lending.

         10                 However, out- of- state companies are

         11  making this type of loan in New York.  In

         12  particular, County Bank of Rehoboth Beach, Delaware

         13  and its subsidiaries and affiliates do an active

         14  business in New York.  As a result of Federal Law,

         15  national banks and state banks chartered in another

         16  state may export the interest rate allowed in their

         17  home state.  Thus, if another state has an interest

         18  rate cap of 40 percent, then a bank from that state

         19  may charge up to 40 percent on loans it makes

         20  anywhere in the United States.

         21                 Similarly, if a state has no interest

         22  rate cap, then a bank from that state may charge

         23  interest without limit on loans it makes anywhere in

         24  the United States.  These Federal Statutes have been

         25  upheld by the United States Supreme Court, in a
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          2  series of cases, and they form the basis for the

          3  interest rate charged on payday loans made in New

          4  York by County Bank.

          5                 The Federal Legislation, when first

          6  enacted, was designed to ensure that national banks

          7  and state banks chartered by other states would be

          8  able to compete on a level playing field with banks

          9  operating in their home state.  From this reasonable

         10  beginning, a pernicious form of lending has

         11  developed.  Payday loan companies made with out --

         12  payday loans made with outrageous interest rates are

         13  an abuse of the authority granted by various Federal

         14  Statutes, such as the National Bank Act and the FDIC

         15  Act, as well as a betrayal of their original

         16  purpose.

         17                 When companies affiliate with a

         18  national bank or a non- New York State charter bank,

         19  in order to charge such exorbitant rates of

         20  interest, the bank has rented its charter, once

         21  again betraying the original purpose of the Federal

         22  Legislation.  Accordingly, we call upon the FDIC to

         23  aggressively assert its payday lending safety and

         24  soundness guidelines on state- chartered banks that

         25  engage in this business.
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          2                 Let me be clear, we do recognize that

          3  some people have a need for small, short- term

          4  loans.  We do not seek to decrease the availability

          5  of credit.  However, we believe that credit must be

          6  offered in a non- abusive manner and the pricing of

          7  the credit should relate to the actual risk

          8  involved.  Thus, at a minimum, the Banking

          9  Department believes that the terms of such credit

         10  must be fully disclosed, that rollovers should be

         11  limited, and that an interest rate of 25 percent per

         12  annum appears to be more than sufficient

         13  remuneration for the risk involved, in that the

         14  borrower must provide a repayment check to the

         15  lender at the time the loan is made.

         16                 Moreover, we are against stratagems,

         17  whereby the number of rollovers are limited, but the

         18  borrower may give a new check, thereby starting the

         19  process all over again, to the same lender, or to a

         20  different lender.  Finally, we intend to monitor for

         21  deceptive advertising.  Thank you again for allowing

         22  the New York State Banking Department to participate

         23  in today's hearing. I'd be pleased to try to answer

         24  any questions that you may have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I
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          2  first want to welcome Council Member Charles Barron

          3  from Brooklyn, I neglected to mention that he's

          4  here, and as a Member of the Committee, we're glad

          5  that you are.  You said something about post- dated

          6  checks, and I understand -- the sound in here is

          7  terrible with the air conditioning on -- you said

          8  there's some law where you not allowed to deposit a

          9  post- dated check?

         10                 MR. KRAMER:  No, check cashers are

         11  not allowed to accept post- dated checks.  That's

         12  what the payday lender does.  I write the check

         13  dated two week from --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Check cashers are

         15  not?

         16                 MR. KRAMER:  Check cashers, which are

         17  licensed by the New York State Banking Department.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see.  But,

         19  you're saying that with the payday loans, there's no

         20  prohibition of those that -- so there's no licensing

         21  of the agencies, that I understand, who offer these

         22  payday loans?

         23                 MR. KRAMER:  Well, we, I mentioned in

         24  my testimony that there were three that we

         25  identified --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You said you kept

          3  them out?

          4                 MR. KRAMER:  We wrote to them, told

          5  them to cease, one actually I spotted in a --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That's not my

          7  question.  My question is, there's no licensing of

          8   -- anybody can open up a shop and offer payday

          9  loans?

         10                 MR. KRAMER:  No, not if, if they are

         11  not a national bank from another state or a non- New

         12  York State chartered bank from another state, a

         13  state- chartered bank from another state, they would

         14  have to be licensed by us, as a licensed lender in

         15  order to offer payday loans.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see.

         17                 MR. KRAMER:  When we did, in fact,

         18  see out- of state companies doing this, through

         19  advertisements and penny savers, we wrote them and

         20  we told them that, number one, if they charge

         21  interest of more than 16 percent, they have to be

         22  licensed, and if they charge more than 25 percent,

         23  they would be violating the law.  They chose not to

         24  come to us to be licensed and stopped, to the best

         25  of our knowledge, stopped advertising. One was in
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          2  Essence magazine, one was in a penny saver in

          3  Westchester, one was a penny saver, I believe, in

          4  Staten Island.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, but I guess

          6  my question then is, you were able to have those

          7  three not operate in New York.  But, there obviously

          8  are people operating in New York. So, are the ones,

          9  to your knowledge, are, they still are required to

         10  have a license, right?

         11                 MR. KRAMER:  No, the ones, if you

         12  ever, if you look up on the subways, you'll often

         13  times see Instacash, Telecash, there's one with

         14  payday in it, if you look, you may not see it on the

         15  subway sign, but if you call their number or go on

         16  the web, you'll see that they're affiliates of

         17  subsidiaries of County Bank in Rehoboth Beach,

         18  Delaware.  County Bank, being a Delaware State-

         19  chartered bank, can export its interest rates to the

         20  State of New York, and we have no --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Yes, and that's

         22  my point, Mr. Kramer, maybe, I think we're saying

         23  the same thing, and they are not required to have a

         24  license --

         25
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          2                 MR. KRAMER:  -- Right --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- To operate in

          4  New York?

          5                 MR. KRAMER:  Correct, correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  That's the

          7  point I was just trying to make clear to myself and

          8  for the record.  Council Member Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Are you

         10  finished?  I don't want to interrupt you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  No, but I'll yield

         12  to the, your seniority --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Oh, not

         14  it's alright, I --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- In general, as

         16  a legislator.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay.

         18  Something I just want to clarify.  I think the Chair

         19  raised an important point. Are they allowed to do

         20  business in New York?  That is, are they allowed to

         21  have an office in New York?

         22                 MR. KRAMER:  I don't believe they're

         23  allowed to have an office in New York.  They

         24  transact their business through the internet,

         25  through 1- 800 phone numbers --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- But they

          3  don't have an office in New York?

          4                 MR. KRAMER:  I don't believe, well,

          5  at least we're not aware of they're having an office

          6  in New York.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay, is

          8  there -- some of the legislation, one, at least one,

          9  I think two of the bills we're considering today,

         10  provide for full disclosure in the advertisements,

         11  which would include disclosure of the true interest

         12  rate, and I don't believe the ads disclose that

         13  right now.  Do they?

         14                 MR. KRAMER:  On the County Bank

         15  subsidiaries, I have not seen that disclosed.  On

         16  one of the other ones I mentioned, they did, in

         17  fact, disclose a 360 percent interest rate.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I see.

         19  Well, if these bills -- do you have a view as to

         20  whether we have the legal right, given the

         21  prohibition on stopping them from charging whatever

         22  interest they want, and I'm aware that that's why

         23  the credit card companies charge as much as they do.

         24    But, do we have the legal right to stop, to force

         25  them to disclose when they advertise in New York and
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          2  to New York citizens?

          3                 MR. KRAMER:  I am not sure if that's

          4  the case.  I would have to ask --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Could you

          6  find out --

          7                 MR. KRAMER:  -- Absolutely --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- What

          9  counsel to the Banking Department feels about that?

         10  I think it would be interesting for you to write to

         11  Members of the Committee.

         12                 MR. KRAMER:  Sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I mean, I

         14  would argue we can, but I don't feel totally secure

         15  in that position.  Even though we can't stop them

         16  from charging the interest rate, I think we probably

         17  can force them to fully disclose what the interest

         18  rates are, which is what one, I think two of the

         19  bills do that.

         20                 MR. KRAMER:  I'd be happy to check

         21  that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Fine.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         24  Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I just want
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          2  to thank you Mr. Chairman.  I just want to get clear

          3  on a couple of things. When they, like say if they

          4  charge a $35.00 fee, is the fee plus the interest

          5  rate on the loan?

          6                 MR. KRAMER:  Well, usually, that fee

          7  is what we consider to be the interest rate --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  -- The

          9  interest rate --

         10                 MR. KRAMER:  -- But it isn't, at

         11  least I haven't seen where they charge both the fee

         12  and a separate interest for the two week period, or

         13  if that's rolled over.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  And do you

         15  know of any legislation in the State that requires

         16  even foreign banking companies to have a license. Or

         17  at least respect the 25 or whatever the percentage

         18  is in New York State for these payday loans?

         19                 MR. KRAMER:  Well, I don't think

         20  there is a law that requires them to be licensed

         21  because they're under the National Bank Act and the

         22  FDIC Act, taking their home state's interest rate,

         23  and exporting that to another state.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  And there's

         25  no way we can say that if you're going to be a
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          2  foreign bank to New York, then the requirement could

          3  be that you'd have to go by the rate of that state?

          4                 MR. KRAMER:  I don't believe that we

          5  have the ability to force them to be licensed by us.

          6    That's what the purpose of the National Bank Act

          7  and the FDIC Act was to give them the ability to use

          8  our own state's rate without coming to us to be

          9  licensed, because once they become licensed by us,

         10  they'll then come under our usury.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  See, that, to

         12  me, is a major problem.  I mean, so, if a, so how do

         13  you deal with a foreign bank that, say their state

         14  is 40 percent, but then their loan interest is

         15  really like 500 percent when it comes to New York?

         16                 MR. KRAMER:  Well, if that happened,

         17  and there was a situation like that, we'd go back to

         18  that state's bank regulator, and say they're

         19  violating their own state.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  You'll go

         21  back to them.

         22                 MR. KRAMER:  I believe Delaware had,

         23  one of the problems with County Bank of Rehoboth is,

         24  I believe, Delaware doesn't have a limitation,

         25  because if you look at the Telecash and Instacash, I

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  mean, the numbers, once that rolls, once, and that

          3  has a tendency to happen, becomes addictive, you can

          4  never make the next payment, so it rolls, and it

          5  rolls and it rolls --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  -- Right,

          7  right, right --

          8                 MR. KRAMER:  -- And after four, five,

          9  six times, that interest rate, I think, as the

         10  Chairman or someone said earlier, it can go into the

         11  four, you know, beyond three digits and all the way

         12  up.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You have somebody

         16  there and I know the advocates are listening to the

         17  questions, or they were, and you can answer some of

         18  these questions for us.  What is the average loan?

         19  Do you have any idea?  Can you make a guess?

         20                 MR. KRAMER:  I used the example of

         21  120, but I think we see these more in the $200.00

         22  range.  But, you know, it's hard for us to compile

         23  statistics because the biggest abusers of this are

         24  not too willing to talk to us about it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I understand.  Are
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          2  there any other questions for this witness?  No?

          3  All right, thank you very much.  And we'd be happy

          4  to hear from you on the suggestion that Council

          5  Member Koppell made.  Next is Ms. Amiri, Ms. Del

          6  Rio, and Ms. Barnett.  Thank you all very much for

          7  joining us and when you testify, you need to push

          8  the button in so the light is off, and identify

          9  yourself and your organization for the record, and

         10  spell you name for us and you could begin anyway

         11  whatever is convenient for you.

         12                 MS. AMIRI:  Good afternoon, my name

         13  is Brigitte Amiri, it's b- r- i- g- i- t- t- e and

         14  the last name is a- m- i- r- i. I'm an attorney at

         15  South Brooklyn Legal Services in the foreclosure

         16  prevention project, and I want to thank you for the

         17  opportunity to allow me to provide testimony today

         18  on the Intros. And Resolutions regarding payday

         19  lending.

         20                 Although I primarily focus on

         21  predatory lending in the context of home mortgages,

         22  I'm extremely concerned about the emergence of

         23  payday lending in New York, and the effect that it

         24  will have on my clients.  And, undoubtedly, it will

         25  cause a serious impact on them and perpetuate the
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          2  predatory nature of a lot of the loans that we see,

          3  and the dire financial circumstances that our

          4  clients are faced with.

          5                 As we know, payday lending is the

          6  practice of making short- term loans in exchange for

          7  an exorbitant finance rate.  The terms range.

          8  Sometimes they can be five days, sometimes they can

          9  be two weeks, they can be up to a month. Normally,

         10  on a national average, payday lenders charge 500

         11  percent APR.  But, one particular study noticed that

         12  in New York, New York borrowers are faced with a

         13  much higher APR.  In fact, it's about 780 percent.

         14                 The one payday lender that advertises

         15  significantly in New York, that Mr. Kramer spoke

         16  about, the County Bank of Rehoboth Beach in

         17  Delaware, is the bank that we see that is

         18  advertising in New York on the subways, on the

         19  buses, on the radio, and that bank charges $60.00 in

         20  interest, which is interest or the fee, depending

         21  on, you know, how you want to characterize it.  But,

         22  the terms are interchangeable.  So, $60.00 in

         23  interest for a $200.00 loan, for two weeks, and

         24  that's equivalent, if you annualized it, to 782

         25  percent.  At the end of that two week loan period,
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          2  the borrower must pay the loan back in full.  There

          3  are no partial payments that are allowed.  So, if

          4  the borrower can't pay the loan in full, she has the

          5  option of rolling it over and paying an additional

          6  finance charge of $60.00, and then the loan will

          7  become due two weeks later, and there's no end to

          8  this.

          9                 So, a borrower who gets caught in the

         10  cycle could, and can't pay the loan back, even after

         11  two months, she's paid $240.00 in interest charges

         12  for a $200.00 loan.  In states other than New York,

         13  payday lenders maintain a storefront operation, and

         14  as other people have described, a post- dated check

         15  is presented to the payday lender, it's held onto

         16  for two weeks, and then it's cashed, unless the

         17  borrower rolls it over.

         18                 In New York, however, as we've

         19  discussed, the usury cap really prohibits a physical

         20  presence of payday lenders in New York.  And,

         21  although we're not completely 100 percent sure how

         22  all payday loans are originated, it appears that

         23  most payday loans in New York are originated through

         24  the internet or through 1- 800 numbers, and these

         25  payday lenders target lenders on the subways, and on
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          2  the buses, on the radio.  And also, as someone else

          3  described, out- of- state banks can export their

          4  state's usury cap.  So, even though New York's usury

          5  cap is set at 25 percent, out- of- state banks can

          6  charge as much as they want to, especially in a

          7  State like Delaware, which does not, in fact, have a

          8  usury cap.

          9                 The bank that we have seen the most

         10  is the County Bank of Rehoboth Beach, Delaware.

         11  They offer loans under a lot of different business

         12  names, Cash Express, Cash Reserve, Check 'N Go

         13  (phonetic), 500 Fast Cash, and the advertisements

         14  urge people to call the toll- free number or go to

         15  the website and apply for the loan.  The

         16  advertisements don't disclose the terms of the loan,

         17  and primarily, they, the only information on the

         18  loan, other than Fast Cash and the website address

         19  or the 800 number is the fact that the loans will be

         20  made by the County Bank of Rehoboth Beach in

         21  Delaware.

         22                 So, what happens with this electronic

         23  method of payday lending is that the borrower calls

         24  the 1- 800 number or gets on the internet, contacts

         25  the lender and they make an agreement that the
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          2  payday lender will credit the borrower's bank

          3  account for the $200.00, and in two weeks, the

          4  lender will debit, electronically, the money from

          5  the borrower's bank account, in addition to the

          6  interest fee.  And if the borrower can't make that

          7  payment at the end of the two weeks, that there

          8  won't be sufficient funds to electronically debit

          9  their account, they can contact the lender and ask

         10  to roll- over, and then have the, only the $60.00

         11  debited or whatever that fee is.  So, really,

         12  primarily, it's the electronic lending that's going

         13  on, the authorization to debit and credit the

         14  borrower's account.  But, as we've talked today,

         15  it's somewhat unclear if this is the only way that

         16  loans are, payday loans are originated in New York,

         17  and so therefore, we urge the Council to undergo a

         18  full investigation of how loans are actually

         19  completely originated in New York.

         20                 Most lenders don't disclose all of

         21  the terms to the borrower prior to the consummation

         22  of the loans, and Introductions 461 and 462 reflect

         23  the importance of such disclosures, and for the need

         24  for the terms to be available to the borrowers in

         25  plain English and in a font that's legible. Some
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          2  disclosures, if you go on the internet, they're in

          3  maybe seven point font and in very complex legalese.

          4                 Also, in, as a condition of payday

          5  lending, County Bank requires payday lenders to sign

          6  a mandatory Arbitration clause, and an agreement

          7  that she won't participate or bring a class action

          8  lawsuit against the County, against the lender.  So,

          9  these requirements effectively prohibit borrowers

         10  from adjudicating their disputes with the lender in

         11  court, which has a serious impact on the

         12  individual's due process rights.  County Bank also

         13  falsely believes, leads people to believe that a

         14  payday loan is an inexpensive avenue to borrow

         15  money.

         16                 On Cash Express' website, which is

         17  one of the names that County Bank of Rehoboth Beach

         18  does business under, they say, they claim that their

         19  fees are normally less expensive than paying bounced

         20  check fees, resulting from NSF checks, paying late

         21  fees for your rent, and certainly more convenient

         22  and private than having to visit a bank or a loan

         23  center.  Although payday lending is recently

         24  emerging in New York City, it's crucial that we

         25  ensure that payday lending in New York does not
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          2  reach the levels that it has in other states in the

          3  nation. Indeed, New York City could be a potential

          4  gold mine for these lenders.

          5                 In 2001, ten million households

          6  nationwide paid $2.4 billion in fees.  These high

          7  profits have been derived from repeat customers.  In

          8  Indiana, for example, in 1999, the Indiana

          9  Department of Financial Institutions found that 77

         10  percent of the existing loans were rollovers, with

         11  the average customer rolling over ten times.  So,

         12  the customer gets trapped in this cycle of dent, the

         13  repeat customers, and they're constantly, within a

         14  span of one year, rolling over ten times.

         15                 Also, the term payday loan is

         16  somewhat of a misnomer because borrowers who take

         17  payday loans are often not employed.  They are

         18  available to recipients of government benefits, and

         19  studies have shown that payday lenders actually

         20  target welfare recipients and people on fixed

         21  incomes.  And most of the loan customers are also

         22  women who are low to moderate income, and one

         23  business plan for a payday lender has described

         24  customers as disproportionately minority, with a

         25  household income of less than $25,000, a high school
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          2  or a GED education or less, ages ranging from 18 to

          3  59 years old, female heads of household with

          4  dependents.  So, in New York City, one thing to look

          5  at is whether non- white and low income communities

          6  are being targeted, particularly with a

          7  concentration of the advertisements on particular

          8  buses and subway lines.  So, thank you again for

          9  giving me the opportunity to testify, and I can

         10  answer questions or we can continue with the others

         11  if you want.  Yes, sure.

         12                 MS. BARNETT:  Hi, my name is Sabrica

         13  Barnett, and that's spelled s- a- b- r- i- c- a- b-

         14  a- r- n- e- t- t, and I'm a Consumer Advocate for

         15  NYPIRG, the New York Public Interest Research Group,

         16  which is a state- wide not for profit research and

         17  advocacy organization, and I would like to begin by

         18  thanking the Committee for allowing me to speak

         19  today.

         20                 First of all, I want to point out

         21  that my testimony is also on behalf of the Consumer

         22  Federation of America and that Jean Ann Fox of CFA,

         23  assisted in the preparation of my testimony.  Ms.

         24  Fox and CFA have a long history of research in

         25  advocacy on this issue, and in fact, are mentioned
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          2  and quoted in the text of some of the Intros. And

          3  Resolutions were are here to discuss today.

          4                 NYPIRG has participated in the CFA

          5  payday lending surveys and in other aspects of the

          6  campaign to eliminate payday lending.  NYPIRG and

          7  CFA welcome the interest and concern of the New York

          8  City Council concerning usurious payday lending.

          9  New York law caps interest rates at 25 percent

         10  annual interest rates for small loans.  Check

         11  cashers are prohibited, by law, from making loans

         12  based on holding consumers' personal checks for

         13  future deposit at a state fee.  Yet, payday lending

         14  is being marketed to New York consumers.

         15                 According to a 2001 NYPRIG and CFA

         16  survey of payday lenders across the country, a

         17  handful of loan servicing companies partner with a

         18  Delaware State- chartered bank to market loans at

         19  triple digit rates to consumers in New York, and

         20  these loans are advertised to New Yorkers and

         21  arranged through telephone, fax, and electronic

         22  funds transfer.  New York consumers pay up to $30.00

         23  to borrower $100.00, with the total due on the

         24  borrower's next payday, which translates to 780

         25  percent annual interest rates for a two week loan to
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          2  families having trouble making ends meet until their

          3  next payday.  And, because payday lenders demand the

          4  right to electronically withdraw the entire loan and

          5  finance charge from the borrower's bank account

          6  within days of lending the money, consumers end up

          7  on a treadmill of debt, paying the finance charge to

          8  roll- over loans to the next payday, to keep their

          9  checks from bouncing. After five rollovers, a

         10  borrower will have repaid more than she actually

         11  borrowed, but still owe the original amount.

         12                 We agree with the Council that payday

         13  lending is an outrageous breach of New York consumer

         14  protections, and that something must be done to stop

         15  the local loan arrangers from partnering with out-

         16  of- state banks to evade New York law at the

         17  expensive of cash- strapped workers.  However,

         18  solutions contained in Intro. 461, Intro. 462 and

         19  Resolution 880 do not go far enough to protect hard-

         20  working, low- income New Yorkers who become trapped

         21  by these unscrupulous lenders into a vicious circle

         22  of burdensome high- interest loans.

         23                 Intro. 461 requires lenders to

         24  provide clear cost disclosure information to

         25  potential borrowers, and to periodically provide
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          2  demographic information on their customers to the

          3  City.  Intro. 462 requires lenders to provide clear

          4  and conspicuous disclosure in their advertisements

          5  regarding material information, such as interest

          6  rates, and other charges, so that consumer

          7  understand the true cost of the loans.

          8                 Resolution 880 calls upon the MTA to

          9  stop the practice of leasing advertising space to

         10  companies providing payday loan service, and in the

         11  alternative, that the MTA require payday loan

         12  companies to disclose pertinent information in their

         13  advertisements.

         14                 We agree that these consumers need

         15  clear cost information before making a decision to

         16  borrow money.  The Federal Truth in Lending Act

         17  applies to the payday loan product, according to the

         18  Federal Reserve and numerous court decisions. But,

         19  payday lenders avoid advertising or posting their

         20  finance charges and annual interest rates.  A

         21  requirement to hand a cost disclosure to potential

         22  borrowers would add to federal credit disclosure

         23  protections.  Having demographic information that

         24  consumers would, about the consumers, would be

         25  informative to the City.  Disclosure of the horrific
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          2  terms of these loans in all advertisements would

          3  also be a benefit to New Yorkers.  Removing the ads

          4  from the subways and buses would cut down on

          5  exposure to these unconscionable loans by

          6  hardworking New Yorkers.

          7                 However helpful though, these

          8  solutions do not solve the problem of rent- a- bank

          9  payday lending in the City.  We recommend that the

         10  Council enact a law, local law, prohibiting any

         11  business from brokering or arranging payday loans

         12  for any other party.  While the City cannot regulate

         13  out- of- state banks, it should police their non-

         14  bank partners that do business in the City.  And, if

         15  the City does not have the authority to enact such

         16  local laws, we recommend the Council call on the New

         17  York Assembly to do so in Resolution 876 and on the

         18  United States Congress to do so in Resolution 871.

         19  Some states have already enacted anti- broker laws

         20  to stop store front operations from brokering or

         21  arranging payday loans for banks located in

         22  permissive states, such as in Massachusetts,

         23  Maryland, Virginia, Oklahoma, Colorado, Indiana and

         24  California.

         25                 Another step we urge the City Council
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          2  to take is to memorialize the New York Regional

          3  Office of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

          4  to vigorously investigate and enforce the FDIC's new

          5  payday loan guidelines against any banks in this

          6  region making payday loans.  The only bank we know

          7  about is County Bank of Rehoboth Beach, Delaware.

          8  It should matter to the FDIC that one of its banks

          9  is partnering with servicing agents to make loans at

         10  780 percent in a state where the criminal usury cap

         11  is 25 percent.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. DEL RIO:  I have one visual aid

         13  that, if maybe someone could help me by holding it

         14  up while I do the first part of my testimony or if

         15  you have tape maybe?  Oh, okay.  Okay.  Hi, good

         16  afternoon, my name is Deyanira Del Rio, spelled d-

         17  e- y- a- n- i r- a, last name Del Rio, d- e- l r- i-

         18  o.  So, I'd also like to thank you for the

         19  opportunity to testify at today's hearing.  I'm here

         20  representing NEDAP, the Neighborhood Economic

         21  Development Advocacy Project.  For those, we know

         22  many of you have testified at prior hearings on

         23  predatory mortgage lending and other issues, and

         24  we're very pleased to always come and speak with

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And what you are

          3  displaying is also what we have here in the handout,

          4  correct?

          5                 MS. DEL RIO:  It's a piece of that,

          6  yes, which I will address.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

          8                 MS. DEL RIO:  Do you mind standing

          9  there for a moment?  Okay.  So, for those of you who

         10  don't know us, NEDAP is a non- profit resource and

         11  advocacy center that works with community groups

         12  throughout New York City, that are working to

         13  increase access to fair and affordable credit and

         14  financial services, and are primarily working in

         15  lower income neighborhoods and communities of color.

         16                 Among our activities, NEDAP

         17  coordinates a New York task force on payday lending,

         18  of which South Brooklyn Legal Services and NYPIRG

         19  are also members.  That task force is a sub

         20  committee of a state- wide coalition that we

         21  administer also, New Yorkers for Responsible

         22  Lending.  New Yorkers for Responsible Lending is

         23  currently made up of over 100 affordable housing,

         24  community development, seniors and other consumer

         25  groups, as well as community development financial
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          2  institutions, who are making sound credit and

          3  financial services available in their communities

          4  throughout the State.

          5                 We, let's see, we were very heartened

          6  to have seen the Intros. And Resolutions and are

          7  very encouraged by the City Council's interest in

          8  addressing this issue.  We share your concern that

          9  payday lending, which is just another form of, the

         10  many forms of predatory lending, not be allowed to

         11  flourish unchecked in New York.

         12                 As you've heard, in other states,

         13  payday lending is virtually permitted, either by a

         14  lack of a usury cap or some other means, and so, in

         15  most other states, where you have payday lending,

         16  it's much more prevalent and physical.  They have a

         17  much stronger physical presence in the communities

         18  that they target, through check cashing stores, and

         19  other store fronts.  There's a variety of reasons

         20  for why payday lending has not been as pervasive in

         21  New York State to date.  But, in the past year, as

         22  you've heard, there's been a recent proliferation of

         23  payday lenders advertising, and it's clear to us and

         24  we've heard from many sources and industry

         25  representatives themselves, that payday lenders want
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          2  badly to break into the New York market for obvious

          3  reasons.  There's the population size and this large

          4  scale of credit means that would be a gold mine for

          5  them as Brigitte said. We've also heard that there's

          6  a good amount of lobbying that's going on right now,

          7  at both City and State levels, by payday lending and

          8  check cashing industry representatives that want to

          9  legalize payday lending or have the usury cap lifted

         10  or by have some other means put in place, so that

         11  they can really offer many more payday loans than

         12  are currently offered, and they often make

         13  convincing arguments about why this is inevitable

         14  and the City Council and the State should allow it

         15  and just regulate it.  And I'm hoping towards the

         16  end of my testimony to address that and to dispute

         17  that.

         18                 So, now to the visual aid.  You've

         19  already heard the scenario in New York State, how we

         20  have a usury cap, but for many different reasons,

         21  different lenders are able to circumvent that usury

         22  cap.  So, I don't want to go into that.  But, what I

         23  brought was just a sample based on one of those,

         24  based on a loan application that we received from

         25  County Bank of Rehoboth Beach, which you've heard
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          2  about, and we called one of the phone numbers on the

          3  subway ads, and what happened was they faxed us an

          4  application, which we then filled out, and sent back

          5  to them, and understood that these were the terms of

          6  the loan that we would be offered.  And, in the

          7  packet of materials I or someone passed around,

          8  there's also, what that application looked like,

          9  that was faxed to us, so you can see the tiny print

         10  in which any disclosures that, you know, disclosures

         11  that were made, are, you know, they're, they're not

         12  very effective.  But that just gives you an idea of

         13  what people are actually getting when they're

         14  calling these companies.

         15                 So, this is an illustration of kind

         16  of what happens, and it's a little bit repetitive,

         17  but I think sometimes it's good to go over it again.

         18    This is just how it works, the borrower will

         19  apply, in this case, for a $200.00 loan, and as

         20  you've heard here, what you would do is on that

         21  application, fill out your bank account number, your

         22  bank's or credit union's routing number, and you'd

         23  also send them different proof of your income,

         24  different pieces that prove that you have either

         25  $800.00 in government benefits or $1,000.00, if
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          2  you're employed.  And, once they have that proof,

          3  they basically will process your loan. You agree, at

          4  the end of the two week loan period, that you're

          5  going to repay that $200.00 loan, plus the finance

          6  charge, which, in this case that we looked at, was

          7  $60.00.  And, as Brigitte said, that comes out to

          8  782 percent annually, and that's the highest, if not

          9  one of the highest rates that are being charged by

         10  payday lenders across the county.

         11                 So then at the end of the two weeks,

         12  your loan comes due and you'll either be debited

         13  that $260.00 from your account, it will be

         14  automatically deducted, or else you, when this is

         15  more often the scenario, and the one that the payday

         16  lenders prefer, is that you'll roll- over that loan

         17  and pay another $60.00 finance charge.  In this

         18  case, you would only have to extend that loan four

         19  times to have paid more in fees than you had in the

         20  principal.  So, you would have paid $300.00 in fees

         21  for this $200.00 loan, and as you've heard, that's

         22  often what happens, that people roll- over their

         23  loans ten, up to 15 or more times in one year.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Excuse me, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MS. DEL RIO:  So, like other forms of

          3  predatory lending, payday lending does exploit a

          4  real need for credit.  In this case, it's short-

          5  term loans or loans for just very small amounts that

          6  aren't offered by most lenders now at days.  But

          7  rather than meet that need responsibly, payday

          8  lenders are, we feel, perpetuating a cycle of

          9  predatory and escalating debt that people just can't

         10  get out from.

         11                 Among their predatory features,

         12  payday loans, number one, as you've heard, carry

         13  these very exorbitant and abusive interest rates.

         14  You know, just to put it in context, there was an

         15  indu -- a payday lending industry survey that was

         16  actually undertaken, and they found out that most

         17  borrowers thought that their annual percentage rates

         18  on their payday loans were 30 percent.  They thought

         19  it was more in line with credit card debt and had no

         20  idea that it was approaching 1,000 percent.

         21                 Number -- oh, also the high cost of

         22  these loans is not justified by any risk that the

         23  borrower presents because there's, and this is my

         24  second point, there's no real underwriting that is

         25  done on the loan.  They don't do credit history
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          2  checks, they don't ask about what other debts you

          3  may have, what other loans, what other expenses, so

          4  that they can measure whether or not you should get

          5  this loan, and whether you could repay it based on

          6  the terms of the loans.  So, that, to us, makes it

          7  pretty clear that their interest isn't in you having

          8  to, isn't in the person paying off the loan, it's in

          9  rolling you over multiple times.

         10                 In spite of this, most borrowers do

         11  end up, over time, paying off their payday loan, and

         12  the charge- offs by most payday lenders, in states

         13  where they've measured this, is only two to three

         14  percent, which is much lower even than credit card

         15  companies.  So, it's clear that these loans --

         16  borrowers are not, do not merit, the risk does not

         17  merit the high interest rates that they're being

         18  charged.

         19                 Number three, they contain abusive

         20  repayment terms that entrap borrowers in debt.

         21  You've already heard how they require the absolute

         22  full loan amount to be repaid at the end of the two

         23  weeks, and if not, if you, you know, if you have at

         24  the end of that two week period $259.00, and you owe

         25  $260.00, that's too bad for you, you have to roll
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          2  that loan over again.  Most other lenders will allow

          3  you to pay what you have at that time, so that's

          4  another abusive term.

          5                 And, finally, it restricts borrowers'

          6  legal rights through mandatory arbitration and other

          7  clauses that borrowers don't even know that they're

          8  signing, which you'll recall still happens in other

          9  forms of predatory lending.  So, our recommendations

         10  are, basically we support your Resolution calling on

         11  the New York State Assembly and Senate to pass

         12  meaningful legislation that would stop payday

         13  lending.

         14                 We also would encourage you to find

         15  out about other, or we would like to help you in, as

         16  well, to find out about other alternative payday

         17  loan products.  There are many community development

         18  credit unions and other community financial

         19  institutions that are, they've developed short term

         20  and small loans that would meet their members' needs

         21  responsibly and would compete with the payday

         22  lenders, and so we think that there's even more room

         23  for mainstream banks and others to be encouraged or

         24  pressured to offer similar types of loans.  And we

         25  think that that would help meet that gap in credit
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          2  that's currently, that's currently being exploited

          3  by payday lenders. And I think that is about it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Do you

          5  have some idea of how many people in the New York

          6  area have participated annually in this?  Have you

          7  estimated, guesstimated?

          8                 MS. DEL RIO:  That, unfortunately

          9  goes to what everyone's being saying that there's no

         10  information disclosed by the industry.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But you'd suggest

         12  it's in the thousands or tens of thousands?

         13                 MS. DEL RIO:  I wouldn't even have a

         14  basis to tell you.  I can tell you that in some

         15  community presentations we've done on other issues,

         16  we've had a few people come to us about this,

         17  unsolicited, and say that they've taken out these

         18  loans. That's just in the City.  I wouldn't even

         19  begin to guess about upstate or other parts.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And, I'm sorry,

         21  now you're with South Brooklyn?

         22                 MS. DEL RIO:  No --

         23                 MS. AMIRI:  -- I'm with South

         24  Brooklyn --

         25                 MS. DEL RIO:  -- I'm with NEDAP.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Do you represent

          3  people?

          4                 MS. AMIRI:  I represent people in,

          5  who are in foreclosure as a result of a predatory

          6  loan.  So, it's in the context of home mortgages.

          7  But, I think part of the reason why we can't

          8  quantify the number of people who have taken out

          9  payday loans in New York City is because it flies

         10  under the radar screen, because it's through the

         11  internet and through these 800 numbers and there

         12  isn't --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I understand that,

         14  but, people come into your office and say I'm

         15  trapped in this cycle?

         16                 MS. AMIRI:  Our primary focus right

         17  now is on foreclosures of their home mortgages, so

         18  we have not yet seen an influx at this time.  We

         19  haven't, unlike NEDAP though, done outreach on other

         20  economic issues though.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  NEDAP, have you

         22  had people come to you and say how do I get out of

         23  this?

         24                 MS. DEL RIO:  No, but like I said,

         25  when we've been out at different presentations,

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  people have said that they have taken these loans.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, I'm going to

          4  ask the last question of NYPIRG. Have you had

          5  anybody come to you and ask how to get out of this?

          6                 MS. BARNETT:  Like I said, we've been

          7  working with the Consumer Federation of America, so

          8  we just got into this issue and would like to work

          9  more of it, more in the New York, but we don't have

         10  that much information.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, three of the

         12  leading advocacy groups have never had anybody come

         13  and tell you about this, how do we know this is a

         14  problem?

         15                 MS. DEL RIO:  Well, I think that that

         16  goes to part of, you know, why this is such good

         17  timing, and why we're so fortunate here in New York

         18  State that we find ourselves in the position of

         19  being a bit ahead of the curve, and they don't, you

         20  know payday lenders have not had the chance to

         21  really do more than just this kind of, what we feel

         22  like is maybe a testing of marketing on the subways

         23  and buses.  And so, we have had people, like I said

         24  at training, say we did get these loans, and we have

         25  had people say that it's devastated then, it's not
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          2  the volume of, you know --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- But, in other

          4  words --

          5                 MS. DEL RIO:  -- What you see with

          6  foreclosures --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- You have had

          8  consumers come to you and say that this is a problem

          9  for them?

         10                 MS. DEL RIO:  Right, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That's what I

         12  asked you earlier.

         13                 MS. DEL RIO: Yes, yes.  Well, that's

         14  what I meant. They don't come to us for help because

         15  we don't work with individuals, we're not a client

         16  type of organization.  But, when we go out, we do

         17  hear that and we try to connect them with, you know,

         18  whatever assistance we can, other organizations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I know that our

         20  staff was late in reaching out to people and that

         21  was part of the problem here, but we had hoped that

         22  we would have some people who had been victimized

         23  come, because we really wanted to have an awareness

         24  of their experience.  That's why I'm asking all of

         25  you, and I know we're going to have a second
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          2  hearing.

          3                 So, if you could assist us in that,

          4  that would be extremely useful, because we try not

          5  to pass laws because we made up something.  We'd

          6  like to know that this is something that is

          7  happening to people.  I don't know if Consumer

          8  Affairs has been- has anybody reached out to the

          9  Consumer Affairs, that you know of?  So, this all

         10  could be something that Mike Nelson made up. No?  I

         11  see, okay.  He does that sort of thing from time to

         12  time.

         13                 MS. DEL RIO:  Could I have one more

         14  sentence?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Michael, did you

         16  have a, Council Member Nelson, did you have a

         17  question?  Now that's not a question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Is it Ms.

         19  Brigitte Amiri?

         20                 MS. AMIRI:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Your

         22  foreclosure work, is it connected to the payday?

         23                 MS. AMIRI:  It's not connected.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Not

         25  connected.
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          2                 MS. AMIRI:  We, because we've been

          3  focused almost exclusively on predatory lending in

          4  the context of home mortgages, we are just starting

          5  to look at other predatory lending products, and so

          6  we have been overwhelmed by the mortgage predatory

          7  lending aspects of things.  But, it's something that

          8  does concern us and obviously would affect our

          9  client base tremendously.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So, it's not

         11  really connected to payday loan.

         12                 MS. AMIRI:  It's not connected, no.

         13  It's just we're trying to look at other predatory

         14  loan products and can expand the work that we do, so

         15  we're not exclusively doing home mortgages.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         19  Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I want to

         21  thank you ladies for coming out and you talked about

         22  the Consumer Federation of America, do they have any

         23  idea what the overall statistics are for this type

         24  of thing?

         25                 MS. BARNETT:  I'm not aware of it,
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          2  but I'm pretty sure that she does, they reached out

          3  to us, specifically because this was a big problem

          4  nationwide and they wanted to see what was happening

          5  in New York.  So, I can get information to you, if

          6  you'd like.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  And you have

          8  about -- how many lenders do you have here that are

          9  listed in that report.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member, I

         11  can't hear the question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I'm sorry, I

         13  know we found about 14,000 when we did a google

         14  search, so obviously they're making money and

         15  they're making a lot of money, and you did target --

         16  you said they targeted somewhere in one of your

         17  presentations, family memb -- people with GED's or

         18  single homeowners or women.

         19                 MS. AMIRI:  Right, that was a study

         20  done back in, I think, 2001 by the National Public

         21  Interest Research Group, that they target people who

         22  are receiving government benefits, women, female

         23  heads of household with dependents, household or GED

         24  education, or less and with, with incomes of less

         25  than $25,000 a year.  But, as far as nationally, ten
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          2  million households have been affected by payday

          3  loans.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Ten million

          5  national.

          6                 MS. AMIRI:  Ten million nationally,

          7  and they have paid $2.4 billion in fees in 2001.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right, you

          9  did mention that, and I would imagine that our

         10  percentage is going up in New York because they have

         11  just started really proliferating it in the last two

         12  years, and I know that the radios, so I'm sure that,

         13  I'm glad that we're ahead of the curve and I hope

         14  that we can, together, either eliminate, discourage,

         15  and I appreciate whatever you can do to get some

         16  people who identified.  I now that most people don't

         17  want to admit to it, and I know that they're coming

         18  to you for predatory loan, predatory loan practices

         19  than they are getting caught in the payday loan

         20  scourge also.  So, I appreciate you coming out and

         21  since Michael Nelson has a question, I'm going to

         22  defer to him for a moment.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Wait don't take

         24  the Chair's prerogative now.  Council Member Nelson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  My dream told
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          2  me to take the prerogative.  In New York, as we

          3  know, is 25 percent.  So, this is obviously a

          4  cunning way of getting around that, which I know the

          5  Interstate Commerce and all that stuff, but I

          6  thought state's rights might finally play a positive

          7  role.  The Regal Neal (phonetic) Amendment in  '97

          8  by President Clinton, it recognizes host state

          9  usury.  Why is this not, the enforcement is, I

         10  think, virtually not existent here.  Do you have any

         11  ideas why nobody's taken, challenged this or

         12  anything?

         13                 MS. AMIRI:  Well, I think it's

         14  extremely complicated.  There's a United States

         15  Supreme Court decision, I think Marquet (phonetic)

         16  is the name, that has said that state chartered

         17  banks must be able to play on the same level -- same

         18  playing field as nationally- chartered banks.  So,

         19  the nationally chartered banks are not subject to a

         20  state usury cap, but state chartered banks are.

         21  State- chartered banks should be able to operate

         22  nationally, without having to worry about anyone's,

         23  any state's usury cap, except their home state.  So,

         24  I think it's really, I think it's a complicated

         25  question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  It's a

          3  constitutional issue.

          4                 MS. AMIRI:  It's a, I don't know if

          5  it's -- it's probably a constitutional issue, yea.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  State

          7  Commerce --

          8                 MS. AMIRI:  -- Right --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  -- Against

         10  Mergate (phonetic).

         11                 MS. AMIRI:  But I think one thing

         12  that's important to note is that the Office of

         13  Thrift Supervision, which regulates federally,

         14  federal thrifts and the OCC, the Office of the

         15  Comptroller of the Currency, which regulates

         16  national banks, both have said none of our member

         17  banks are going to do payday lending.  It's really

         18  only the FDIC that has yet to crack down on state-

         19  chartered banks, and so state- chartered banks is

         20  what we're all talking about and focusing here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  State-

         22  chartered banks, an alternative to do it at least

         23  within the guidelines that would not be so

         24  financially dangerous to the individuals.

         25                 MS. AMIRI:  Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Any progress

          3  with this?

          4                 MS. AMIRI:  The FDIC has come out

          5  publicly with some regulations that they plan to

          6  enforce internally, but it's not as strong or as

          7  concrete, obviously, as we think it should be to

          8  really crack down on the payday lending.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  And just

         10  lastly, are there any figures at all available, any

         11  stats, how many people do not, I would think it

         12  would be high, do not pay back these loans?

         13                 MS. AMIRI:  I think Dey mentioned

         14  that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  You touched

         16  upon that? I'm sorry --

         17                 MS. DEL RIO: -- There are a few

         18  states that have done studies of what the charge-

         19  off rates are for payday lenders, like, when they

         20  finally just say we're not going to collect anymore

         21  and they charge- off the loans, and it ranges

         22  between two and three percent, which is very low.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  It really is,

         24  yea.

         25                 MS. DEL RIO:  Yea, because what
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          2  usually will happen instead is they'll roll the loan

          3  over several times.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  That's

          5  tremendous. Growing up in Coney Island, there was a

          6  guy named pegleg pete, who used to take care of

          7  these things, and he wouldn't have gone to jail if

          8  he could have just gotten involved with one of these

          9  organizations.  Well, thank you.  Thank you Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         12  much.  You know, this Committee was very

         13  instrumental in also looking at similar predatory

         14  behavior, and I know that, least I believe, that we

         15  are still caught up in lawsuit with the

         16  Administration.  That's unfortunate.  But, be that

         17  as it may, have you seen, Ms. Amiri, any change in

         18  that business, based on the fact that this pending

         19  piece of legislation, or just the amount of

         20  publicity around it, or is it still just as onerous

         21  and they haven't taken warning?

         22                 MS. AMIRI:  I think it's hard to

         23  judge the effect of the City Council's Anti-

         24  Predatory Lending Ordinance, in part, because it

         25  never took effect because of the temporary
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          2  restraining order, and also because just, it's hard

          3  to, it's really difficult to measure.

          4                 I can tell you what our intake has

          5  been and how it's changed over the last maybe six

          6  months, and we are seeing less of the more

          7  traditional predatory loans with the high fees, high

          8  interest rates and deceptive terms.  And we're

          9  seeing kind of a new type of scam, that has really

         10  overwhelmed us, quite frankly.  So, if it's based --

         11  if you're basing it on what our intake has been, the

         12  number of callers and the types of problems that the

         13  callers are having, we have not seen the more

         14  traditional payday, or I'm sorry, predatory loans

         15  involving the high interest rates and that type of

         16  thing.  What we're seeing now is something new, that

         17  we're calling detransfer scams.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What is this new

         19  scam?

         20                 MS. AMIRI:  The new scam that we're

         21  seeing a lot of is, involves someone who poses as an

         22  investor, approach someone, a homeowner, typically

         23  an elderly homeowner, and induces them to sign her

         24  deed over, to her house, over to the investor, under

         25  the promises of, you know, perhaps, paying off back
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          2  taxes or managing the property and a lot of elderly

          3  homeowners don't even know that they have, that

          4  that's what they have actually done, is sign the

          5  deed over.

          6                 So, we're seeing a lot of these new

          7  intakes and we're also seeing a lot of, and have

          8  continued to see a lot of the first- time home

          9  buyers who have fallen victim to a one- stop shop

         10  scan involving FHA insured mortgages.  So, we're

         11  seeing a lot less of the kind of traditional quote

         12  predatory lending stuff.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Do you, or anybody

         14  on the panel, have a sense as it relates to payday

         15  loans?  What people are normally using this money

         16  for, is it to pay the rent?  Do we know anecdotally

         17  that most people say, well I'm trying to cover this

         18  short term for x or y?  Or is it, I know they're not

         19  out, you know, well, I don't know what they're out

         20  there for, that's what I'm asking.

         21                 MS. DEL RIO:  The few people that

         22  we've spoken to, like I said that have come to us,

         23  said that they, you know, one person said they used

         24  it to pay off a student loan.  Another person got

         25  one for an emergency that came up.  So, you know, I
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          2  think it just ranges, there's a whole wide range of

          3  reasons.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I mean, my guess,

          5  and that's, again, why I'm anxious to hear from

          6  consumers about this. Because there's a lot of

          7  guessing going on in here.  It must be something

          8  that you need to pay off right now.  So, you know,

          9  not disagreeing with you, but if you said to me it's

         10  a student loan. What's going to happen if you don't

         11  pay the student loan?  Not that big a deal.  But,

         12  you know, if you don't pay the rent or you have a

         13  loanshark or other problems that are out there,

         14  because I think there's a pattern out here, and I

         15  think we're going to -- you capture the same

         16  consumers looking at whether it's predatory lend --

         17  people are in a severe economic situation and

         18  they're just filling the gaps from one crisis,

         19  throwing themselves from one to another.  That's

         20  sort of why I asked the question as well.

         21                 So, I don't think most people would

         22  set themselves up for a seven day loan, to be honest

         23  with you, to pay off a student loan.  There's got to

         24  be something much more immediate happening.  So, we

         25  will be looking, urging the advocates and the, even
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          2  our colleagues, who have had the victimization

          3  happen, because I there's, we want to get more

          4  information about this.

          5                 I know as the Chair, before we vote

          6  on this bill, I would like to hear both from the

          7  industry and from some people that have had this

          8  affect their lives.  So, thank you very much for

          9  your testimony.  Seeing that there's no one else

         10  here to testify.  But that our dear colleague James

         11  Sanders has joined us, James Sanders junior to be

         12  precise.  Did you have a comment that you wanted to

         13  make Council Member?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I just

         15  wanted to, of course, thank the panel, but to thank

         16  our Chair for really looking into this matter, for

         17  being consistent in trying to safeguard the rights

         18  of people of New York City without crippling

         19  business.  It's a very delicate balancing, and you

         20  seem to have the way to do it.

         21                 But, of course, I would be remiss if

         22  I did not compliment Council Member Comrie from

         23  bringing this issue to the forefront, so I had to

         24  sit in this, I apologize for my tardiness. I'm

         25  literally playing hooky from my committee next door,

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  where I am, in theory, Chairing, but they probably

          3  won't even miss me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You're always

          5  missed.  And on that -- recognized and missed, so

          6  and on that note, we will adjourn this hearing.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 (Meeting adjourned 2:58 p.m.)
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